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And they that shall be of thee shall build the old waste places: thou shalt raise up the foundations of many generations; and thou shalt be called, The repairer of the breach, The restorer of paths to dwell in.


Isaiah 58:12


The American people returned to office a president of one party and a Congress of another. Surely they did not do this to advance the politics of petty bickering and extreme partisanship they plainly deplore. No, they call all us instead to be repairers of the breach and to move on with America’s mission. America demands and deserves big things from us, and nothing big ever came from being small.


President Clinton, second inaugural address, January 20, 1997
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PROLOGUE
“We have to impeach the bastard”



Bob Livingston was looking for a place to escape. He moved wordlessly through the chamber of the House of Representatives, where his fellow congressmen were arguing about whether the president of the United States should be removed from office for the first time in American history for high crimes and misdemeanors. Republicans were crying about the rule of law, Democrats about partisan witch-hunts. Livingston tuned out the raging speeches and brushed past the milling congressmen. Finally he made his way to the door leading to the Republican cloakroom and ducked inside. Here he hoped to find a few moments of peace.


With a row of phone booths, a few worn leather couches, a coffeepot, and a droning television, the L-shaped cloakroom on most days was a useful, if inelegant, hideaway from the monotony of legislative business. At this moment, it was also an effective refuge from the political storm that had swirled around Livingston in the last few days. It was Friday, December 18, 1998, and Livingston stood on the precipice of power, slated to become the next Speaker of the House. And yet he had the look of a haunted man, hiding from the swarm of television cameras staking out his office elsewhere in the Capitol. His tall, lanky form slumped into a chair in the cloakroom. His face was drawn, his eyes looked empty. Just two nights before he had been forced by a pornographer to publicly confess to marital infidelities, and now he presided over impeachment proceedings that had their origins in President Bill Clinton’s own sexual indiscretions. As if the situation were not surreal enough, suddenly the country was at war half a world away as Clinton ordered American warships and planes to bombard Saddam Hussein’s Iraq.


Pen in hand, Livingston had been scribbling on some paper, trying to work on his speech for the impeachment debate, but he felt it was missing something important. He got up and squeezed himself into one of the cloak-room’s phone booths and made a few calls. Finally, the weight of it all just hit him. The world had gone mad, it seemed to Livingston. How could all of this be happening at once? Across the room he spotted an aide walking into the cloakroom and gestured for him to come over.


“We’ve got to stop this,” Livingston said. “This is crazy. We’re about to impeach the president of the United States.”


Livingston had lost his nerve. He could not go through with it. He instructed his aide to summon the other members of the House Republican leadership for an emergency meeting in an hour. “We’re going to have a censure vote.”


The import of those words was instantly clear. It meant no impeachment. It meant surrender. At the behest of his party’s conservatives, Livingston had been blocking attempts by Clinton’s Democratic allies to offer a nonbinding resolution on the floor that would reprimand the president rather than impeach him. If the House were allowed to vote on such a censure measure, moderate Republicans would have a vehicle to express their disapproval of Clinton’s behavior without feeling compelled to go along with those seeking to make him the first president impeached in 130 years. Censure would pass and impeachment would fail—at least that was the conventional wisdom. Five days earlier, prodded by House Majority Whip Tom DeLay, the power-broker from Texas who had helped him secure the Speakership in the first place, Livingston had announced he would not permit such a vote. Now, almost literally at the last minute, he was changing his mind.


Livingston’s aide, Mark Corallo, was alarmed. A feisty former military man, Corallo was convinced that Clinton was guilty of perjury and obstruction of justice for trying to cover up his affair with onetime White House intern Monica S. Lewinsky. What’s more, just that morning Corallo had been told by a friend about an even more explosive allegation contained in the locked vault at the Gerald R. Ford House Office Building where the secret evidence sent by Independent Counsel Kenneth W. Starr was stored, a sensational if uncorroborated charge that Clinton had sexually assaulted a woman more than twenty years earlier when he was the attorney general of Arkansas. Corallo had rushed over to the cloakroom to tell Livingston, when he found the new Speaker dispirited and ready to give up.


“Wait a minute,” Corallo told Livingston. “You need to go to the Ford Building and see the evidence.”


“No, I’ve heard about some of it,” Livingston replied. “People have told me.”


“No. You need to go look. Boss, we have a rapist in the White House.”


The nation was not yet familiar with the name of Juanita Broaddrick and her harrowing tale of a motel room encounter that had left her with a swollen lip and a terrible secret that two decades later would be splashed out in the nation’s newspapers and television sets despite the president’s denial. At that point, Broaddrick had refused to speak about it publicly, and her case had only been hinted at cryptically in the newspapers. Livingston had heard the story, at least wisps of it, in the hallways of the Capitol, but he stood quietly and listened as his aide poured forth indignation.


“If you allow a censure vote, he gets away with it,” Corallo argued. “He has flouted the law. He has attacked you and everything we stand for. We may take a short-term hit in the polls, but in the long run, we’ll be remembered as the guys who stood up for the rule of law.”


Livingston thought about it. A tough-minded, fifty-five-year-old former criminal prosecutor, he believed in the rule of law as strongly as anyone. Certainly he had no great affection for Clinton. But this was the president. Livingston was, at heart, an institutionalist who had been raised to respect the office. His family tree extended to the beginnings of American democracy, including a forefather who had administered the presidential oath of office to George Washington. Livingston knew impeachment was not something to be undertaken lightly. And after a quarter century of political ladder-climbing, after swallowing his own sense of loyalty to push his friend Newt Gingrich out of the Speaker’s chair in a postelection coup, this was hardly what Livingston wanted to do in his first act as the leader of the House. He had dreamed of using his newfound position to trim back government and cut taxes. Those were the driving passions that had fired his two decades in Washington, not partisan thirst for revenge against the likes of Bill Clinton.


Yet Livingston knew that it was too late to turn back. If he could not convince his own aide to halt the barreling locomotive of impeachment, how could he bring along a conservative Republican conference anxious to throw Clinton out of office? Maybe in the days or weeks before, another outcome had still been possible, but no longer. The debate had started; the vote was scheduled for the next day. Besides, Livingston concluded, Corallo was right. However unpleasant it was to deal with, in Livingston’s mind the president had committed serious crimes that the House had to confront directly. To let Clinton off, Livingston decided, would set a dangerous precedent that future presidents could do as they pleased with no accountability.


“So what you’re saying,” Livingston finally said to his anxious aide, “is we have to impeach the bastard.”


“Yes, I’m saying we have to impeach the bastard.”


“Okay,” Livingston sighed. “We won’t have a meeting.”


Livingston did not tell his congressional colleagues about his eleventh-hour moment of doubt and quickly put it out of his own mind as well. Little did anyone realize that barely twenty-four hours before Clinton would be impeached, the one man who could have stopped it very nearly did. Small wonder that he hesitated. The months of scandal and turmoil had taken their toll in Washington. Lives had been wrecked, careers ruined. The nation’s politics had been warped into something almost unrecognizable. All the rules had been rewritten. A president could be caught enjoying sexual favors in the Oval Office suite from an intern barely older than his daughter, then lie about it on national television, cover up his misconduct, and yet soar to record heights in political popularity polls. A special prosecutor could force a young woman to divulge her most intimate secrets, haul her mother into a grand jury, and even compel the Secret Service agents who guard the president to break their code of silence, all without anyone able to tell him to stop. A Speaker of the House could seek to use the president’s wrongdoing to his advantage in an election, only to endure a devastating defeat and find himself forced from power just days later, all the while conducting his own secret, five-year extramarital affair. And now his successor faced his own moment of truth.


For all of the titillation about thongs and cigars, the story of the impeachment and trial of William Jefferson Clinton was not so much about sex as it was about power. It may have started with an unseemly rendezvous near the Oval Office, but it mushroomed into the Washington battle of a generation, ultimately dragging in all three branches of government. It tested the boundaries of America’s constitutional framework and challenged the precepts of nearly every major institution of public life. And the consequences went far beyond whether Clinton would stay in office or not—for good or ill, the decisions made by the House and Senate would redefine the limits of presidential and congressional power for decades to come. Just as lawyers and lawmakers cracked open history books to study the precedents set by Andrew Johnson and Richard M. Nixon, another set of national leaders in the future will search for lessons from the six-month showdown between the Democratic president and the Republican Congress—from August 1998 when Clinton’s fate was thrown into the congressional arena by his admission that he had misled the nation, through his impeachment by the House in December, and finally to his eventual acquittal by the Senate in February 1999.


The impeachment and trial had their origins not merely in the lust of a chief executive or the animosity he generated in his foes, but in a fast-changing, scandal-soaked Washington culture that had grown coarse and corrosive over the years. With the advent of the independent-counsel law following Watergate and the political wars that helped destroy the reputations of Supreme Court nominees Robert H. Bork and Clarence Thomas, House Speaker Jim Wright, and would-be defense secretary John Tower, attack politics had become more the norm than the aberration, a trend exacerbated by the development of multiple twenty-four-hour cable news channels hungry for conflict to fill dead airtime. At the Clinton White House, life under the microscope of a half-dozen special prosecutors had so jaded the president’s advisers that when counselor Paul Begala joined the White House staff in 1997, he put an attorney on retainer even before his first day on the job. Was that the fault of Clinton or Starr? The Republicans or the media? There were plenty of directions in which to point fingers.


Clinton opened his second term vowing to bring the parties together, to become the “repairer of the breach.” But the last half of his presidency demonstrated that the breach was wider than anyone had ever anticipated. The impeachment and trial represented the triumph of partisanship on both sides of the aisle. Led by the White House, the Democrats made a calculated decision to promote partisanship and then use it as a shield for the president—demonizing his critics, resisting every GOP move, and even manufacturing disagreements where none existed, all to prove the political perfidy of the other side. Despite the private doubts of their own leaders, the Democrats resolved not to seriously consider removing a president who remained at lofty heights in the opinion polls. For their part, Republicans allowed revulsion at Clinton to consume them so much that they turned away from opportunities to work together with the opposition toward a bipartisan conclusion. The clearest lesson from Watergate was that impeachment had to be bipartisan to work, and yet the GOP majority pushed forward with little serious effort to win over Democrats, unwilling to consider any solution short of the ultimate goal. For both sides, impeachment, in the end, turned out to be another campaign to be won. Compromise was for the faint of heart.


In another era, Washington might have found a consensus resolution without the political equivalent of nuclear escalation. There was a time when the powerbrokers in the nation’s capital could have settled on a proper course of action and then made it happen behind closed doors—whether the right answer was impeachment, resignation, censure, or some other outcome. In 1974, Barry Goldwater, Hugh Scott, and John J. Rhodes went to the White House to convince Nixon to resign rather than face certain impeachment by the House. In 1987, Democratic leaders agreed to forgo impeachment proceedings against Ronald Reagan for the Iran-contra affair once former senator Howard H. Baker Jr. took over as White House chief of staff, pledging to put things back on track. But by the Clinton era, Washington had become such a polarized place that when the city’s “wise men”—former senators, onetime White House officials, and even ex-presidents—tried to intervene to bring the two sides of the Clinton clash together, they were ignored. In the current generation, outsiders such as Bill Clinton and revolutionaries such as Tom DeLay cared little what the party elders inside the Beltway thought.


The Clinton impeachment saga was also the story of real people making it up as they went along, uncertain about what was the right answer. For every James Carville, the consultant who would defend his president to the last by tearing down his attackers, there was an Erskine B. Bowles, the White House chief of staff who wrestled with his own sense of betrayal and despair. For every Tom DeLay, who never wavered from his relentless campaign to drive Clinton from office, there was a Bob Livingston, who struggled with genuine doubts and conflicting imperatives until the bitter end. In hindsight, it would often seem that everything was inevitable—that the House was always bound to impeach and the Senate was always fated to acquit. But that was not the way it felt to those waging the battle at the time. At any number of points, events might easily have turned out differently—including the moment when Livingston entertained second thoughts as the House opened its historic debate.


Robert L. Livingston Jr. grew up in modest circumstances and a broken home in New Orleans, raised by a mother alone from an early age after his father abandoned the family. After dropping out of Tulane University, he signed up with the navy for a four-year hitch, which included a tour aboard ship in the Caribbean during the Cuban missile crisis, before returning to school. Making tuition money as a welder’s assistant at the local shipyards, Livingston earned undergraduate and law degrees at Tulane and met a bright young man studying for a doctorate named Newt Gingrich. Livingston went to work for a succession of local, state, and federal prosecutors over the next half-dozen years, cementing his affinity for institutions and order. But the young lawyer did have a wild side. He liked to gamble at an illegal casino and carouse deep into the evening at the dives in the French Quarter. Once when he returned home late, he found his dinner left for him outside the front door by his unamused wife, Bonnie.


By 1976, the political bug had bitten, and with the encouragement of his boss, the Democratic state attorney general, Livingston decided to run for Congress—but as a Republican. He and Bonnie spent their entire life savings of $5,000 in a futile bid in a historically Democratic district, but when the man who had beaten him, Congressman Richard Tonry, resigned a year later amid a vote-fraud scandal, Livingston won the 1977 special election for the seat. In Washington, he quickly earned a reputation as a serious, fiscally conservative, pro-defense legislator who worked hard to steer federal money to the shipyards where he had once labored. After Republicans took over in 1994, Gingrich, his old acquaintance from Tulane, reached past other, more senior members to give Livingston the gavel of the most powerful panel in the House, the Appropriations Committee, which divvies up hundreds of billions of taxpayer dollars each year. Eager to make a point, Livingston showed up at his first meeting as chairman hefting a machete in one hand and an alligator knife in the other—all to show what he planned to do to the bloated federal budget.


But in a town of one-dimensional politicians, Livingston proved to be more complicated. True to its long tradition, the Appropriations Committee under Livingston remained an island of bipartisanship even amid the fervor of Gingrich’s revolution. The institutionalist in Livingston cherished relationships across the aisle; sometimes he would break out harmonicas with his friend, Democratic congressman David R. Obey, in the middle of a committee meeting. Yet the rebel in Livingston would lead the charge during the budget battle that shut down the federal government in 1995. “We will never, never give in!” he thundered on the House floor. “We will stay here until doomsday!” The videotape of his defiant outburst was played over and over on television until he became a symbol of Republican intransigence. His own mother later told him never to do that again because he looked like a raving lunatic.


Despite the tension of that showdown, little personal animosity had developed between Clinton and Livingston, as it had with Gingrich and other Republican leaders. When Livingston toppled Gingrich as leader of House Republicans after their disastrous midterm election in November 1998, the new Speaker-designate kept an open mind on impeachment. After his ascension, the first time he met with the top House Democrat, Minority Leader Richard A. Gephardt, Livingston said he was receptive to the idea of censure as an alternative to be offered on the floor. By his second meeting with Gephardt, Livingston was more wary. DeLay had applied considerable pressure, and the new Speaker hedged his bets. At their final meeting in the days before the debate was to begin, Livingston told Gephardt that censure was off the table. By that point, Livingston’s own skeletons were about to burst out of their closet—and the embattled Speaker-to-be was telling friends that he had secretly been threatened with exposure by a lobbyist ally of the White House if he blocked censure.


Livingston had thought he had made up his mind a week before the debate began on the floor, when he convened a meeting of the Republican leadership and a few ad hoc advisers. It was the Thursday before what he would later come to call his “week from hell,” and he went around the room at the Library of Congress soliciting opinions. “Look, we’re down to the wire here and we’ve got to go forward,” he had said. “I want an idea of where you all stand.”


For the next hour, they went through the pros and cons of censure, talking about the consequences of impeaching Clinton or failing to. In the end, the decision was clear—they would go forward with impeachment. There was only one dissenter, Anne Northup of Kentucky, who had barely won reelection a month earlier and worried about the political ramifications of taking on a popular president.


Only in the days after that meeting did Livingston learn that his own past adultery would definitely come to light. Only after that was the country suddenly thrust into war. The turmoil made Livingston rethink his decision. Barely an hour before his brief turnaround in the cloakroom on the day the impeachment debate opened, Livingston had met with a Republican congressman from Iowa who urged him to step down as Speaker for the good of the party. The congressman was not there on behalf of a group, but Livingston knew he reflected the sentiments of others in the GOP conference. All of this was swirling through his mind.


After Corallo stiffened his resolve again in the cloakroom, Livingston turned his attention back to his speech. He crossed out lines and scribbled in new ones. He crunched up one draft and threw it in the wastebasket. The next draft was better, coming closer to saying what he wanted to say about the president’s behavior and the stakes for the system. Bob Livingston was nothing if not a creature of the system. After a long day of drafting, he met in his office privately with Tom DeLay, who told him to stand strong, that they would get through it together.


Finally, Livingston emerged from his inner office, draft speech in hand, and put on his coat.


“I need a punch line,” he told his aides as he walked out the door. “It really needs a punch line.”


That night, around two in the morning, Livingston bolted up in bed. He knew what his punch line would be.





CHAPTER ONE
“I don’t know how we can get through this”



Hillary Rodham Clinton looked miserable. Her hair was pulled back, her face clear of any makeup, her eyes ringed red and puffy in that way that suggested she had been crying. She stared vacantly across the room. The people who had surrounded her and her husband for the past seven years had never seen her like this. Even in private, she was always perfectly poised, immaculately coiffed, impeccably dressed, and inalterably in control. Now, however, she appeared to have been to hell and back. To see her like this, thought some of the longtime Clinton loyalists who had rushed back to the White House to help in weathering the worst crisis of her husband’s presidency, it seemed as if someone had died.


When one of her husband’s original political advisers, James Carville, arrived in the Solarium on the third floor of the White House, summoned back overnight from Brazil at her request, Hillary rushed over to him, clutched his hand, and sat him down next to her.


“You just have to help us get through this,” she said. “I don’t know how we can get through this.”


Neither did anyone else. At that moment, on the afternoon of Monday, August 17, 1998, President Clinton was three floors below them, facing off against Independent Counsel Kenneth Starr in the Map Room of the White House and testifying via closed-circuit television to a federal grand jury about his relationship with a young former intern named Monica Samille Lewinsky and his efforts to cover it up during the sexual-harassment lawsuit filed against him by former Arkansas state clerk Paula Jones. Forced by incontrovertible DNA evidence, Clinton was admitting after seven months of adamant denials that he had fooled around with a woman less than half his age in a private hallway and cubbyhole just off the Oval Office, and he would have to tell the nation later that night. It was not an easy confession to make. Indeed, Clinton had not been able to bring himself to break the news to his own wife. Four nights before, he had sent his lawyer to pave the way for him.


It had to have been the longest walk of David E. Kendall’s life, the journey that night, Thursday, August 13, to the residential part of the executive mansion where he had met with the first lady. Kendall, a fastidious yet tough-as-nails attorney from the blue-chip Washington law firm of Williams & Connolly, had represented both Clintons for five years now through every manner of alleged scandal, from Whitewater to Travelgate to Filegate, becoming one of their most trusted confidants. And so it fell to him at that critical moment to play emissary from husband to wife, to disclose the most awful secret of any marriage.


Something had obviously gone on between the president and Lewinsky, Kendall had told the first lady in his soft, understated way. The president was going to have to tell the grand jury about it. Only after Kendall laid the foundation did Clinton speak directly with his wife.


Over the weekend it became clear to others in the White House that the president was about to change his story, and reports citing unnamed sources began appearing in the press, first in the New York Times and later the Washington Post. Clinton’s political advisers began preparing for the inevitable national television address he would have to give to explain himself. Mickey Kantor, a longtime friend who had served as his commerce secretary and now as occasional damage-control adviser, was pushing to have Clinton preempt Starr by addressing the nation on Sunday evening, the night before his grand jury appearance. The lawyers were horrified. A witness never spoke publicly before undergoing an interrogation under oath, they argued; that would only give the prosecution ammunition and possibly aggravate the grand jurors.


No, it had to be Monday night after the session, or perhaps the next morning, depending on how Clinton felt afterward. With the timing settled, the real question then came down to what should be said and how. Everyone agreed that Paul Begala, Carville’s spirited and tart-tongued former partner who had come on board at the White House as a free-floating political adviser, would be in charge of putting together a speech for the president, even though no one had told him officially what Clinton would tell the grand jury. The consensus was that Begala would have the best feel for the delicate job. Begala solicited a draft from Robert Shrum, the longtime Kennedy family adviser and wordsmith, who faxed it over to the White House. In this version, Clinton would say, “I have fallen short of what you should expect from a president. I have failed my own religious faith and values. I have let too many people down. I take full responsibility for my actions—for hurting my wife and daughter, for hurting Monica Lewinsky and her family, for hurting friends and staff, and for hurting the country I love.” While he would maintain that he “did nothing to obstruct this investigation,” he would not mince words in saying he was sorry. “Finally, I also want to apologize to all of you, my fellow citizens,” he would say. “I hope you can find it in your heart to accept that apology.” That would be it. No rationalization. No nimble word games. And no mention of Starr.


As they studied the Shrum text, Begala and the other Clinton aides concluded that it would be too groveling. After all, Clinton was still the president and needed to avoid appearing weak to the nation’s enemies. Neither Begala nor most of the other White House advisers working on the draft realized just how timely that concern was, not having been told about secret plans to launch air strikes within days against terrorists blamed for recent bombings of U.S. embassies in Africa.


Begala spent the weekend coming up with his own passages and phrases intended to have Clinton express his contrition without sacrificing his dignity or antagonizing Starr. In Begala’s draft, the president would frankly acknowledge that he had misled the country, would take responsibility for his actions, and would pledge to spend the rest of his administration working on the issues the public cared about to regain the nation’s trust. On Saturday night, Begala called up a fellow White House political adviser, Rahm Emanuel, at home and read him the latest draft. Emanuel agreed it was the way to go.


Others sent drafts too. Mark Mellman, a Democratic pollster who worked for many Democratic congressmen, was asked to sketch out some thoughts. Sidney Blumenthal, a fiercely partisan defender of the Clintons first as a journalist for The New Yorker and then as a member of their staff, faxed in versions from vacation in Europe that would have the president firmly denounce Starr’s politically motivated witch-hunt. But the only draft that counted was the one the president scratched out in his own left-handed scrawl on a yellow legal pad over the weekend. On Monday morning, as Clinton was going through his final preparation session with his lawyers, Kantor arrived at a strategy meeting in the office of White House counsel Charles F. C. Ruff, clutching three pages of now-typed remarks, with more notes from Clinton in the margins.


“I’ve got what he wants to say,” Kantor announced.


There was groaning around the room, where most of the president’s political team had gathered, including Begala, Emanuel, Deputy Chief of Staff John D. Podesta, counselor Douglas B. Sosnik, and press secretary Michael D. McCurry. They were flabbergasted. Begala had his latest draft in his coat pocket. When had Clinton had time to write his own speech? Between the long hours of preparations with his lawyers, dealing with his own tortured family situation, and secretly overseeing plans for retaliation against terrorist Osama bin Laden, the president hardly had a lot of free moments. The group decided to have Begala go over the new draft, but it became clear immediately that it was too strident.


Across the building, Clinton was huddling in the Solarium with Kendall and his partner, Nicole K. Seligman, to go over one last time what he would tell the grand jury. Neither Chuck Ruff nor any of the other White House lawyers was allowed to attend because Starr had already shown that they did not have complete attorney-client privilege as lawyers for the government, so it was left entirely to the president’s privately paid legal team. Knowing that Starr had a sample of his blood to compare with a semen stain on a navy blue Gap dress Lewinsky had saved, Clinton recognized he had no choice but to admit the obvious, but he refused to use the actual words. Starr’s office had insisted on videotaping the session, ostensibly in case one of the grand jurors was absent, and Clinton had no doubt that the tape would ultimately find its way into public view. Any clip of him saying anything explicit, such as “She performed oral sex on me,” would be played on television again and again, until it became so instilled in the minds of viewers that it would not only humiliate Clinton but become the single moment defining him in the history books.


The solution he and his lawyers came up with was a prepared statement with carefully chosen words that would make the confession as dignified as possible. Oral sex would be described simply as “inappropriate intimate contact.” Phone sex would be called “inappropriate sexual banter.” Everyone would know what he was saying.


Clinton and the lawyers also went over fourteen set pieces they had drafted—prepared mini-speeches ranging from four lines to four pages that he could deliver at opportune moments during the session. They knew, for example, that the prosecutors would surely ask the president if it was right or wrong to mislead the Jones lawyers during his civil deposition, and they had rehearsed an answer for him, saying that it was acceptable as long as he was trying to be “literally truthful.” Normally, lawyers instruct clients to give short answers under oath, but in this case, Kendall and Seligman knew Clinton would never be able to tell his story for the camera unless he talked right over his inquisitors. Besides, having negotiated a strict four-hour limit to the questioning, the president’s team figured he could filibuster long enough to eat up the clock.


The prep session with the lawyers was interrupted when the president’s national security team arrived to brief him on another matter. The attorneys picked up their papers and left the room, unaware of what was so important. Once they were gone, National Security Adviser Samuel R. Berger gave Clinton the latest report on plans to bomb a suspected terrorist camp in Afghanistan and a suspected chemical-weapons facility in Sudan.


*   *   *


Around 12:30 p.m., Starr arrived at the White House, where he was met by Kendall, who pulled him aside for a private “walk in the woods.” Kendall mentioned a weekend newspaper report suggesting that despite their long adversarial relationship, the president’s lawyer actually had great respect for the special prosecutor.


“You know all those nice things I was quoted saying about you?” Kendall asked.


“Yes.”


“I didn’t say them.”


“I didn’t think so.”


Kendall went on to tell Starr that the president would make a difficult admission to the grand jury that he did in fact have a relationship with Lewinsky but would not get into the specifics. Kendall warned the prosecutor not to push the matter with intrusive questions. “If you get into detail, I will fight you to the knife, both here and publicly,” he vowed.


At 12:59 p.m., the president entered the ground-floor Map Room, where Franklin Delano Roosevelt had charted the progress of Allied forces during World War II and where the last map of troop locations that he saw in 1945 before his fateful trip to Warm Springs, Georgia, still hung on the wall more than a half century later. Waiting were Starr and six of his lawyers, a pair of technicians, a court reporter, and a Secret Service agent. Accompanying Clinton were Kendall, Seligman, and Ruff. At 1:03, the cameras were turned on and the oath administered.


From the start, Starr’s deputies set a confrontational tone by stressing the importance of the oath and asking Clinton if he comprehended it—in effect challenging the president’s basic capacity for honesty before his first answer.


“Do you understand that because you have sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, that if you were to lie or intentionally mislead the grand jury, you could be prosecuted for perjury and/or obstruction of justice?” asked deputy independent counsel Solomon L. Wisenberg.


“I believe that’s correct,” Clinton replied evenly.


Wisenberg pressed the point. “Could you please tell the grand jury what that oath means to you for today’s testimony?”


“I have sworn an oath to tell the grand jury the truth and that’s what I intend to do.”


“You understand that it requires you to give the whole truth—that is, a complete answer to each question, sir?”


Clinton tried to remain calm. “I will answer each question as accurately and fully as I can.”


The questioning was turned over to another deputy, Robert J. Bittman, who began by asking Clinton if he was ever physically intimate with Lewinsky. The president said he would read a statement, pulled out some paper from his pocket, and put on his reading glasses. The effect of the glasses, combined with the hair that had grayed considerably in office, made Clinton look like an aging man instead of the vital, vigorous leader who had first emerged on the national stage seven years earlier.


“When I was alone with Ms. Lewinsky on certain occasions in early 1996 and once in early 1997, I engaged in conduct that was wrong,” he began, reading slowly and deliberately. “These encounters did not consist of sexual intercourse. They did not constitute sexual relations as I understood that term to be defined at my January 17, 1998, deposition. But they did involve inappropriate intimate contact. These inappropriate encounters ended, at my insistence, in early 1997. I also had occasional telephone conversations with Ms. Lewinsky that included inappropriate sexual banter. I regret that what began as a friendship came to include this conduct and I take full responsibility for my actions.”


For Ruff, who as the chief lawyer for Clinton in his capacity as president had helped direct his defense for seven months, this was the first time he learned directly that his client had lied to all of them. Ruff had come to the White House the year before to cap a sterling legal career, having served as the final Watergate special prosecutor, U.S. attorney in Washington, chief lawyer for the city government, and defense counsel for such embattled Democrats as Senators John H. Glenn and Charles S. Robb. At fifty-eight, he had spent much of his adult life in a wheelchair after contracting a poliolike disease while teaching law in Africa. Yet never in his career had he been as hampered in representing a client; as a government lawyer without full attorney-client privilege, Ruff had been shut out of the recent grand jury preparations and therefore had never heard the truth from the president’s mouth until just then. By this point, that was hardly a shock, but it meant that from now on, Ruff would always have to wonder if he was being lied to.


Undeterred by Kendall’s warning, Starr and his prosecutors spent much of the afternoon deconstructing Clinton’s opening statement and trying to pin down the president on exactly what he meant and how he could justify his testimony. During the Jones deposition, Clinton had testified he did not recall being alone with Lewinsky except for a few occasions when she brought him papers and the like. Now his first words were “when I was alone with Ms. Lewinsky.” In the Jones deposition, he said he had no specific recollection of giving her gifts. Now he was well aware of all sorts of gifts and named them in great detail. In the Jones deposition, he had said he did not have “sexual relations” or a “sexual affair” with Lewinsky. Now he was admitting that they engaged in some sort of sex play without stating exactly what it was, in effect insisting that he did not actually have sexual relations with Lewinsky because he was merely a passive recipient of oral sex and never fondled her as she testified he did.


Clinton jousted with the Starr lawyers every step of the way, insisting that there was no legal inconsistency between his past statements and his new admission, that he had been technically accurate before and did not commit perjury. Wisenberg noted that Clinton allowed his attorney during the Jones deposition to assert that there “is absolutely no sex of any kind in any manner, shape, or form” between Clinton and Lewinsky.


That “was an utterly false statement. Is that correct?” Wisenberg asked.


“It depends on what the meaning of the word is is,” Clinton responded. “If the—if he—if is means is and never has been, that is not—that is one thing. If it means there is none, that was a completely true statement.” The president’s lawyers winced. They believed he was being somewhat lighthearted about it, but recognized immediately that by quibbling over the tense of the verb, it would reinforce the public criticism of Clinton’s slippery style with words.


Convinced the videotape would eventually be made public, Clinton resisted strenuous attempts by Starr’s prosecutors to get him to elaborate on his admission, declining to describe his sexual activities with Lewinsky. But with his finger wagging and his eyes narrowed in anger, Clinton lashed out against both the Jones lawyers for their “bogus lawsuit” and the Starr team for trying to “criminalize my private life.”


When they asked about his January 17 testimony in the Jones case, Clinton fell back on one of his fourteen prepared set pieces. “My goal in this deposition was to be truthful, but not particularly helpful,” he said. “I did not wish to do the work of the Jones lawyers. I deplored what they were doing. I deplored the innocent people they were tormenting and traumatizing. I deplored their illegal leaking. I deplored the fact that they knew, once they knew our evidence, that this was a bogus lawsuit, and that because of the funding they had from my political enemies, they were putting ahead. I deplored it. But I was determined to walk through the minefield of this deposition without violating the law, and I believe I did.” As for Starr, Clinton said resentfully, “We have seen this four-year, forty-million-dollar investigation come down to parsing the definition of sex.” Never mind that it was Clinton doing the parsing.


While the president was in with Starr and his deputies, the rest of the White House was in a strange state of suspended animation. The waiting was killing everyone; little real work was getting done at the most senior levels. Soon after the grand jury session began, the electronic surveillance equipment that monitored the president’s precise location at all times while in the White House showed that he had moved from the Map Room to the medical center. Some of his aides momentarily panicked. Was he all right? Doug Sosnik, the president’s counselor and constant companion for most of the past two years, raced from the West Wing over to the residence to find out, only to discover that they had just taken a break and retreated to the medical unit because it was next to the Map Room and had a refrigerator filled with Diet Coke. All over the White House, televisions were tuned to CNN, where a surreal “game clock” in the corner of the screen showed the time elapsed during the grand jury session as if it were a football game. Joe Lockhart, the deputy press secretary, grew so angry that he started throwing things at the television and finally called up CNN correspondent John King to tell him the clock was inaccurate anyway because they had no idea how much time had been spent in breaks. Soon afterward, the clock disappeared from the screen. One small victory, at least.


The political team reconvened in Ruff’s office, including Podesta, McCurry, Lockhart, Emanuel, and Begala. Mickey Kantor sauntered in and began delivering a pep talk. The president appreciated everything everyone had done, he announced. Nobody should worry that the president had committed perjury, he added before leaving again.


The other aides were stunned at the presumption. Lockhart was particularly furious. They had spent every waking moment fighting for this president, absorbing his private tirades and being lied to by both the boss and his lawyers. And now this guy from the outside professed to convey the president’s feelings toward them? In their minds, Kantor was an enabler who encouraged Clinton’s worst instincts and caused more damage than he contained. They had blamed him for spreading stories early in the scandal suggesting the president suffered from sexual addiction, and just in recent days they were certain despite his denials that he had been the one who had leaked news of Clinton’s impending confession to the New York Times. “Fuck you,” someone exclaimed as soon as the door closed behind Kantor. “Who the hell are you?” others piped in.


A more serious fight, though, was beginning to rage over the president’s draft. The speech was supposed to be a straightforward admission and apology, but Clinton had written tough attacks on Starr into the text. That would undermine the message of contrition and merely set up a new confrontation. Throughout the rest of the afternoon, the president’s advisers maneuvered over the language of the speech, with the political staff united against Kantor, who wandered in and out and professed to represent what Clinton really wanted.


After getting nowhere, Begala, Emanuel, and the others decided to go over Kantor’s head. They rushed down the narrow staircase to the first floor of the West Wing and burst into the office of White House Chief of Staff Erskine Bowles, who had tried for seven months to keep out of the scandal-defense business. They were about to screw this up, the other aides told Bowles. He had to come upstairs and help. For once, Bowles agreed to get involved and immediately raced up to Ruff’s office to find Kantor.


“How dare you?” Bowles demanded. “We’re not going to use this crap!” Bowles was as fired up as few had ever seen the mild-mannered investment banker from North Carolina. But he made no more headway than anyone else had.


When the grand jury session finally ended at 6:25 p.m., Clinton gathered with his lawyers and a few other advisers in the medical unit. Carville was among those waiting for him, positioned there in an effort to have a friendly face greet him upon his emergence from the legal lion’s den. The president seemed all right, tired but composed. Given all he had gone through, he did not appear especially worked up. If anything, the adrenaline was still pumping and he seemed relieved. The lawyers reviewed his testimony and tried to figure out if there was anything to clean up. Kendall was particularly aggravated that the Starr team had tried to extend the four-hour time limit while on camera, essentially playing to the grand jury. The president was frustrated that he had not been able to see the grand jurors because of the one-way closed-circuit hookup. He had wanted to take the measure of his audience for perhaps the most important performance of his life and yet could not.


At the moment, though, there was no time for postgame analysis. “Sorry to interrupt you guys,” Doug Sosnik interjected, “but we need to make a decision about whether you should go on.”


With only five minutes until the evening news began, they had to determine whether Clinton should address the nation that night. If he was going to, Mike McCurry wanted to alert the networks in time to get the announcement on their broadcasts. The expectations for a speech had grown all day in the media, and the White House aides felt they had little choice. Waiting until the next day, they feared, would be seen as a sign that the grand jury testimony went badly. Besides, Clinton was anxious to get on with his vacation to Martha’s Vineyard and escape from Washington as soon as possible.


“Well, I feel fine,” he said. “What do you guys think?”


“If you feel okay, then we’d probably prefer you go on,” said Sosnik.


It was a go. But first, the lawyers said they wanted a chance to debrief their client in private and ushered him off to the Solarium, while Begala, Sosnik, and the other political aides returned to the West Wing to prepare. About a half hour later, Begala headed up to the Solarium to see where things stood. Eventually 7:30 p.m. rolled around and the rest of the political aides still had not been called to come join the president and his legal team. For seven months, the lawyers had shut out the political advisers from the defense efforts, and now it looked as if it was happening again. They must be working on the speech by themselves, the political aides concluded.


“They fucked us,” Sosnik exclaimed.


Podesta, Sosnik, Emanuel, and Carville rushed upstairs to the Solarium to discover the president and the first lady surrounded by his lawyers, prepared to go on national television with both barrels blasting at Starr. It was exactly what they were afraid of when Kantor had first told them there was another draft. Any attack on Starr would detract from the central message they thought the president should deliver—that he had misled the country, that he was wrong to do it, and that he was sorry.


“I was wrong. I have to apologize to the American people,” the president agreed. “But this is outrageous what Starr has done. If I don’t say that, no one else will. I can’t just let this go.”


“People aren’t going to hang with you because you’re opposed to Starr,” Emanuel told the president. “They’re going to hang with you because of what you’re doing for them.”


Reaching back to the first crucible many of those in the room had gone through together, Emanuel reminded Clinton of his famous speech the night of the New Hampshire primary in 1992 when he came back to place a strong second despite the Gennifer Flowers and Vietnam draft scandals. Clinton had told his audience that night, “The hits that I took in this election are nothing compared to the hits that the people of this state and this country are taking every day of their lives under this administration.” That was the emphasis Clinton should remember now, Emanuel said—the people wanted to know their issues were more important to him than his own.


Everyone in the room felt the same way about Starr, Emanuel added. The speech was not wrong, but it was the wrong time and the wrong messenger. “You shouldn’t do it. We’ll do it.”


Sosnik made the same point. “That’s why God invented James Carville,” he said, as Carville himself, the president’s favorite attack dog, looked on.


But Clinton would not be moved. He raged that Starr and his henchmen were unfair to him, and he felt strongly that if it was left unsaid it would legitimize their actions. The front end of the speech, where he would express his regret, would give him room at the back end to lay out his grievances.


“I did wrong and so did he,” Clinton huffed. “Damn it, somebody has to say these things. I don’t care if I’m impeached, it’s the right thing to do.”


The debate raged on for some time. Kendall, still steaming from the way Starr had handled the grand jury session, justified an attack on the independent counsel’s conduct because Clinton had to offer some reason why he did not tell the truth to the public for seven months. Harry Thomason, the president’s Hollywood producer friend who had urged Clinton back in January to give a fateful finger-wagging denial (“I did not have sexual relations with that woman, Miss Lewinsky”), agreed that the president had every right to declare a zone of privacy in his speech. Kantor felt the president should be allowed to say what he truly felt and tried to fend off those who believed otherwise.


And then there was the first lady, who had by now covered up her hurt again to take on the role of field marshal for the defense. Hillary Clinton despised the prosecutor for once forcing her to testify before the Whitewater grand jury herself—in person at the courthouse, where it would be more publicly humiliating. At some point, the discussion boiled down to a one-on-one match between the first lady and Erskine Bowles. Never before could anyone remember Clinton ignoring Bowles’s advice on a significant matter, but on this one the chief of staff was not getting through.


“This is crazy,” Bowles said. “This is stupid and wrong.” In his experience, Bowles said, he had found that the best thing to do after screwing up was just admit it and say you’re sorry. Don’t blame it on anybody else.


The room was crowded with so many would-be speechwriters that Kantor finally erupted in exasperation, “This is getting out of control!” he cried, pushing himself back from the table. “We’ll never get this done!”


Podesta, Sosnik, and Emanuel decided to leave, hoping if they removed themselves, so would the lawyers. But the lawyers stayed and Begala was left on his own to keep fighting without help. By that time, the die was probably cast. Hillary Clinton had weighed in.


“Well, it’s your speech,” she told her husband sharply. “You should say what you want to say.” Then she turned on her heel and walked out.


The debate was over. Clinton went upstairs to shower and change into a fresh dark suit with a sharp blue tie that he had worn at his first inauguration in 1993. He returned to the Map Room and sat down soberly, placing his palms on his knees, steeling himself. A technician complained the microphone needed to be higher on his lapel, so Begala walked over to move it. Harry Thomason and his wife, Linda Bloodworth-Thomason, positioned themselves in the room outside of camera range so they could cheer Clinton on during the broadcast. In a few moments, the cameras were turned on and the president addressed the nation:


“As you know, in a deposition in January, I was asked questions about my relationship with Monica Lewinsky. While my answers were legally accurate, I did not volunteer information. Indeed, I did have a relationship with Miss Lewinsky that was not appropriate. In fact, it was wrong. It constituted a critical lapse in judgment and a personal failure on my part for which I am solely and completely responsible. But I told the grand jury today and I say to you now that at no time did I ask anyone to lie, to hide or destroy evidence, or to take any other unlawful action.


“I know that my public comments and my silence about this matter gave a false impression. I misled people, including even my wife. I deeply regret that.”


At this point, Clinton’s tone shifted and his eyes narrowed again in that unmistakable sign of barely contained rage easily recognized by his aides. Any sense of remorse was gone. Now there was only deep-seated resentment. The questions about Lewinsky “were being asked in a politically inspired lawsuit, which has since been dismissed,” he said. The independent counsel’s investigation began with private business dealings and then “moved on to my staff and friends, then into my private life.


“This has gone on too long, cost too much, and hurt too many innocent people. Now, this matter is between me, the two people I love most—my wife and our daughter—and our God. I must put it right, and I am prepared to do whatever it takes to do so. Nothing is more important to me personally. But it is private, and I intend to reclaim my family life for my family. It’s nobody’s business but ours. Even presidents have private lives. It is time to stop the pursuit of personal destruction and the prying into private lives and get on with our national life.”


In just four minutes, it was over. The rest of Clinton’s staff watched from the Solarium, where chicken enchiladas were served. They looked around at each other with knowing expressions. The verdict was clear. It was a disaster.


“What do they expect me to do?” Clinton fumed when told about the negative television analysis. “Roll over and let Starr do this and just take it?”


An unfaithful president was hardly a new story. Grover Cleveland had faced charges of fathering an illegitimate child. Warren G. Harding engaged in regular sexual romps with Nan Britton in the same space just off the Oval Office that Bill Clinton would later find so convenient. Franklin D. Roosevelt had Lucy Mercer. Dwight D. Eisenhower was linked to Kay Summersby. John F. Kennedy fooled around with Marilyn Monroe, Judith Campbell Exner, and a host of others. Lyndon B. Johnson, ever insecure about the Kennedys, even boasted that he was far more of a philanderer than his predecessor, telling associates, “Why, I had more women by accident than he ever had by design.”


None, however, had his private indiscretions so thoroughly and publicly excavated as Clinton had. A product of an era when the news media no longer covered up politicians’ peccadilloes, Clinton had strayed so often and so flagrantly from his marriage vows while building his political career in Arkansas that he was talked out of his first run for the presidency in 1988 by aide Betsey Wright, who compiled a list of women and suggested he would suffer the same fate as Gary Hart had just months earlier. Four years later, Clinton launched his campaign for the 1992 presidential nomination by confessing to a roomful of reporters in Washington that he had caused problems in his marriage, only to discover that the tactic would not inoculate him once Gennifer Flowers had sold her story of a twelve-year affair to a tabloid. The next six years would produce a regular smorgasbord of tales from Clinton’s past, each seemingly more sensational than the last, from the Arkansas state troopers who said they procured women for him to Paula Jones, who claimed he exposed himself to her and requested that she “kiss it.” If rumors were to be believed, he had slept with movie stars, a Miss America, the wife of one of his ambassadors, the daughter of a former vice president, a woman on his White House staff, a judge he had appointed to the bench, the stewardesses from his campaign plane, and even prostitutes. It became almost impossible to separate the credible from the ridiculous, although the evidence suggested there was a mix of both.


All of which most of the American public had absorbed largely with indifference until January 21, 1998, when Monica Lewinsky became a household name and the political implosion predicted a decade earlier by Betsey Wright finally came to pass. Starr’s investigators, having reached a dry well in searching for provable financial wrongdoing by the first couple, had now turned their attention to Clinton’s attempts to cover up his extracurricular love life during legal proceedings spawned by Jones’s sexual harassment lawsuit. For days following disclosure of Starr’s investigation, even Clinton privately wondered whether his presidency was over. His indignant denials, false though they were, bought him the time he needed for the shock of a president fooling around with an intern to wear off, so that when he finally came around to admitting his deceit, the public had already processed the situation and come to terms with it.


But within the White House, a pallor had set in for seven months and virtually never lifted. The energy of the place was sapped, and top aides squirmed when forced to answer questions about their boss’s sexual adventures. It was always clear in the West Wing who had an upcoming date with Starr’s grand jury—they would disappear for long stretches to consult with lawyers, and if that were not enough of a clue, their faces always gave it away. Many senior White House officials harbored doubts, but let themselves be convinced that perhaps the president was really telling the truth, that he had “retired” from womanizing, as he once put it.


Beyond the staff, the president himself was never the same after the Lewinsky story broke. He and his aides went to great lengths to tout his ability to “compartmentalize”—to focus on his duties while putting concerns over scandal in “a box” to the side. And Clinton often demonstrated a remarkable ability to ignore his own political peril and concentrate on whatever policy issue might be presented to him. But much of that was for show as well, a poll-tested and focus-group-tested strategy to portray the president as engaged in his job and above the sleaze that obsessed others. In private, Clinton was consumed with the Starr investigation and its collateral damage, sometimes so preoccupied that he appeared lost during meetings. In the months leading up to his August grand jury testimony, aides would occasionally find him in the Oval Office absently moving things around on his desk or playing with the old campaign buttons he kept in the hallway leading to his private dining room. At one meeting with members of the Congressional Black Caucus, the president simply could not answer their questions—it fell to an aide to conduct the meeting while Clinton sat there apparently distracted by his woes. On another occasion, the head of the World Bank left a meeting with the president and later called a senior White House official to say, “It’s like he isn’t there.”


Whatever esprit de corps had once existed in the White House likewise degenerated into political cannibalism, as political advisers intent on saving Clinton’s administration were shut out—and sometimes even lied to—by the president’s own lawyers, who insisted that secrecy was the best course for their client. “I’m going to kill Chuck,” John Podesta used to grumble at moments of frustration with Ruff, the White House counsel. Joe Lockhart would storm out of strategy sessions, warning the lawyers, “If you guys aren’t going to shoot straight, I’m going to stop coming to these meetings.” Mike McCurry actually did stop coming; anytime he showed up, his colleagues knew it was so that he could yell at the attorneys for hiding critical information from him. On several occasions, McCurry threatened to quit if they kept deceiving him—once, early in the year when they misled him about whether they were using private investigators to research Clinton enemies and, more recently, when Ruff refused to tell him whether Starr had issued a subpoena for the president’s testimony. McCurry’s protests, though, made no difference. Even after the existence of the subpoena was finally confirmed, David Kendall misled him about whether the president’s testimony would be transmitted live to the grand jury at the courthouse or merely videotaped.


Even within the legal team, there were subtle divisions, an “insane asylum of alliances,” as one of the lawyers put it. Kendall and Seligman had been the never-say-die soldiers for the Clintons for years, while Ruff was an outsider more concerned about the impact on the White House for presidents to come. Where Ruff’s relationship with the president and the first lady was strictly professional, two other lawyers ostensibly under his command, Bruce R. Lindsey and Cheryl D. Mills, had personal connections to the first couple that gave them authority beyond their rank as deputy counsels. Lindsey had been Clinton’s friend and consigliere since their Arkansas days, while Mills had earned their loyalty through six years of fiercely defending their interests. Then there were the other outside lawyers widely disliked by the core legal team—Robert S. Bennett, the blustery lead counsel on the Jones case, who scorned Kendall (and vice versa), and Kantor, a longtime Clinton friend whose status as a lawyer on the case appeared designed mainly to cloak him with the protection of attorney-client privilege so the president could have someone to speak with in confidence.


The revelation that the president really had lied—and had sent aides out to repeat his lies on television and to the grand jury—further embittered a demoralized staff. While more jaded advisers such as Podesta and Rahm Emanuel took it in stride, others were deeply hurt. Paul Begala, who had moved from Texas to Washington to help put together a promising second term, was devastated to learn that Clinton had deceived him and let him publicly lie on the president’s behalf. Begala took his politics personally and sank into a deep depression, to the point where he vowed never to appear on television again defending the president—and began thinking about whether he should resign altogether. McCurry had never considered himself close to the first family the way Begala did, but he had come into his job as the public face of the Clinton White House with a long career of credibility in Washington and was determined not to sacrifice all that by becoming the Ron Ziegler of his era. McCurry suspected from the beginning that Clinton was not telling the truth, and the press secretary went out of his way to parse his briefings with reporters to leave himself an escape hatch later should his suspicions be borne out—as they ultimately were.


Outside of the Clinton family, though, perhaps no one was more upset than Erskine Bowles. A millionaire investment banker from Charlotte, North Carolina, Bowles was the straight man in the Clinton White House, an upright, no-nonsense administrator who helped banish the political chaos that had dominated the first-term administration. Tall and lanky with a lean, bespectacled, almost owlish face and a lilting Carolinian accent, the fifty-three-year-old Bowles had become the president’s alter ego in his second term, mending his bruised relations with the Republican Congress and keeping him company on the golf course. Clinton had leaned heavily on him to take the job in the first place and then to stay when he was itching to leave.


Clinton and Bowles had never met before the 1992 presidential campaign, but they forged a quick and deep bond. Both sons of the New South around the same age, they shared a passion for golf and for bringing the Democratic Party back to the political center. For Bowles, the clincher came in a car ride after a fund-raiser when then-candidate Clinton noticed that something seemed to be wrong. Bowles told him his son, Sam, had had a diabetic seizure that morning, and Bowles was angry at President George Bush for vetoing legislation allowing fetal-tissue research that some believed might find a cure. After becoming president, Clinton repealed the research ban in one of his first acts and gave Bowles the pen used to sign the executive order.


While his own father had once run unsuccessfully for governor of North Carolina, Bowles had never served in government, and yet he abandoned the private sector to come to Washington to work for his new friend, first as head of the Small Business Administration and later as deputy White House chief of staff. He returned home in December 1995, but kept helping out where he could, finding a place in Wyoming for the Clintons to vacation and even handling the delicate assignment of nudging Dick Morris out of the 1996 reelection campaign when reports surfaced about the political consultant’s illicit relationship with a $200-an-hour prostitute. After the 1996 election, Clinton prevailed on a reluctant Bowles to come back to the White House, but only with the understanding that it would be a short-term venture. Bowles the businessman found the brittle, scandal-obsessed Washington distasteful and sometimes disorienting, his antipathy showcased in a New Yorker cartoon he posted on the wall of his West Wing office. In it, a man roasting in the fires of hell commented, “On the other hand, it’s great to be out of Washington.”


Yet as the months went by in 1997, the White House enjoyed more policy successes—and Bowles enjoyed the job more. A fiscal conservative who unlike his White House colleagues got along well with House Speaker Newt Gingrich and Senate Majority Leader Trent Lott, Bowles had made balancing the budget his central political passion and within a few months of his return to Washington had worked out a deal with congressional Republicans to erase the federal government’s red ink for the first time since man first walked on the moon some three decades earlier. The president wanted Bowles to stay, and in December 1997, returning on Air Force One from an uplifting thirty-six-hour Christmas-season visit to Bosnia, Clinton and the first lady pressed their case. Whitewater and other scandals seemed to have receded. Now it was time for a fresh beginning, to turn the second term into a season of real progress.


Bowles returned to Washington from Sarajevo invigorated and dove into the policymaking process that led up to each year’s State of the Union address. He was confident he could persuade Congress to pass free-trade legislation known as fast-track, and the administration’s domestic and economic gurus had dreamed up a series of exciting ventures, including expanding Medicare for early retirees and providing child care assistance for hard-pressed young parents. With the budget balanced, Bowles became increasingly determined to use the rare moment of opportunity to fix the long-term generational problems of Social Security and Medicare. And with Congress out of town on recess, the White House seized the agenda by rolling out these proposals one at a time in a carefully orchestrated campaign of announcements and media leaks in advance of the formal unveiling in the State of the Union speech.


In a fit of optimism, Bowles told Clinton in mid-January that he would stay on as chief of staff.


Less than a week later, the Monica Lewinsky story broke.


Bowles had known the Paula Jones case still lurked out there. Indeed, he had been the first top aide to see the president when he returned to the White House from the deposition on January 17, 1998. Clinton walked straight from his limousine into the Oval Office to confer with Bowles about an Asian economic crisis. The president seemed fine. But the first warning sign came a few hours later when Clinton called Bowles and abruptly canceled plans for the two to go out for the evening with their wives. That night, Clinton, worried about the extensive questioning about Lewinsky during the deposition, called his secretary, Betty Currie, at home and asked her to come to the office the next day so that they could compare their stories. When the Lewinsky story showed up in the Washington Post four days later, Clinton was quick to reassure Bowles with a lie. “Erskine,” he told his chief of staff, “I want you to know that this story is not true.”


Bowles had to believe him. It was inconceivable that Clinton had really done this. If Bowles did not accept Clinton’s word, there was no way he could still work for him. And yet colleagues could see that Bowles was unnerved. Usually an unflappable manager, Bowles liked to tell people that he always tried to stay even-tempered—at, say, 55 on an imaginary scale of 100. But he had allowed himself to go up to 75 in the exciting policy-driven days of early January and quickly plummeted to 35 or lower in the aftermath of the allegations about Lewinsky. On the day the story broke, Bill Richardson, then the ambassador to the United Nations, called Bowles because he had offered Lewinsky a job the previous fall at the indirect behest of the president. Richardson planned to disclose publicly what had happened, he said, and started to explain to Bowles. “I don’t want to know a fucking thing about it!” Bowles interrupted. “Don’t tell me about it!” Three days later, during a meeting with other top aides in his office on Saturday, January 24, to plot damage control, Bowles grew sickened at the discussion of the situation. “I think I’m going to throw up,” he said, and abruptly bolted out of the room, never to return to the meeting. Three days after that, he accompanied the president to Capitol Hill for the State of the Union address, the moment Bowles had once anticipated so eagerly. “When I walk down that aisle, I’m going to be smiling,” he told his wife beforehand. “But I’m going to be dying inside. Dying.”


For the next seven months, Bowles refused to get involved in the political effort to save the president, almost as if he would not let himself even acknowledge the allegations—or the possibility that they could be true. Other officials would find Bowles waiting with the secretaries outside the Oval Office while Clinton consulted inside with his political team about the investigation. Bowles would not even go in the room. If he got drawn into it, he explained to those who asked him to step in, then how could the White House get anything else done?


By late summer, there was no choice. Bowles had been on vacation in Scotland during the crazed days leading up to the president’s grand jury session and returned to Washington only the night before, Sunday, August 16, making a late appearance at the office to get up to speed. There really was a dress, he was told. Apparently, Clinton’s DNA was on it. The president was changing his story.


Bowles was distraught. Clinton had lied to him, lied to his face. He had sent him to the grand jury with that lie. Bowles had sometimes been described in the media as the president’s best friend—not just his best friend in the White House, but best friend, period—and yet clearly he did not even really know the man. The man he thought he knew—the voracious reader who devoured information before making a considered decision, the caring leader who saw hard-luck stories in the papers and asked aides to help out people in distress without disclosing his role, the politician with the vision to imagine things his staff could not—was not in fact the whole picture. Everyone who knew Bowles saw that he was taking the betrayal hard.


At the White House the morning of the grand jury appearance, though, Bowles did his best to hide it. As he opened the day’s 7:30 A.M. staff meeting, he told the president’s senior advisers to stay focused on their work and ignore the obvious distractions swirling around them this day. Repeating an aphorism imparted to him during childhood by his father, Bowles reminded the gathering, “It’s easy to be there for someone when they’re up, but it’s the good ones who are there when you’re down.”


Thomas A. Daschle was driving along a wide-open highway in the middle of nowhere in South Dakota later the same day when the car phone rang. It was Bowles, calling from Washington.


Can you get to a hard line? Bowles asked.


Daschle told him he was still quite some distance from the nearest small town with a pay phone. He would have to try calling back later, around 4 p.m.


Daschle knew without asking what the call was about. As the Senate minority leader, Daschle was the president’s chief liaison to the Democrats there, and he had followed the developments in the Lewinsky investigation carefully. Daschle knew that Clinton was testifying before Starr’s grand jury. If it played out to its seemingly extreme conclusion, Daschle realized he could be faced with the prospect of a Senate trial on whether Clinton should be removed from office. At four o’clock, he dialed the White House and was put through to Bowles, who asked where he was. Daschle told him and mentioned that he had stopped for an ice cream malt.


“Right now,” Bowles sighed, “I’d give you a million dollars to be there drinking that malt.”


The chief of staff filled in Daschle on what the president was telling the grand jury and the plans for a late-evening speech to the nation. Daschle thanked Bowles for the heads up and moved on to a hotel, where a few hours later he found himself in front of the television watching as the president admitted he had “misled people, including even my wife,” and went on to decry investigators for “prying into personal lives.” Daschle called his own wife to gauge her impression and to share his—intense disappointment, both with the substance of the president’s message and the manner of its delivery.


Like Daschle, nearly every member of Congress was out of town for the summer recess, watching television and digesting the stunning developments in isolation from each other. Yet even without the Capitol Hill echo chamber, the reaction among many of them was strikingly similar. Senator Orrin G. Hatch, a Utah Republican who had been publicly promising the president that the nation would forgive him if only he confessed all, sat in a television studio watching on a monitor. By the time it was over, he was boiling. “What a jerk!” Hatch exclaimed in frustration. House Minority Leader Dick Gephardt was in Paris, although his staff was refusing to tell clamoring TV bookers where in Europe he was, lest they track him down. When he heard the news the next morning, the Missouri Democrat with the Boy Scout sensibilities could barely contain his disgust and grimly realized that it would soon fall to him to decide whether to try to rescue the president or pressure him to leave for the good of the party and the nation. Senator Joseph I. Lieberman was at a country club in Westchester County near New York City, attending a wedding. Ducking out to search for a television, he found an accommodating waiter who led him outside into the wet darkness and across the street to his own basement apartment so the Connecticut Democrat could watch with his wife. Lieberman immediately thought Clinton’s tone was wrong and unconvincing; the more he thought about it as the night wore on, the angrier he grew.


Lawmakers who had been prepared to give Clinton the benefit of the doubt such as Hatch, Gephardt, and Lieberman found themselves bitterly discouraged at his response. In the Capitol office of House Majority Whip Tom DeLay, however, there was never any question of forgiveness. He did not believe for a second that Clinton was genuinely repenting; the president was only confessing because he had been caught. The DNA had forced his hand. For months, DeLay had been denouncing Clinton as a “sexual predator” and accusing him of providing only “the spin, the whole spin, and nothing but the spin.” This then, finally, was the moment DeLay had waited for, the moment when Clinton would stand revealed as the liar he always was. He had lied about Gennifer Flowers, about the draft, about smoking marijuana. He had lied to DeLay and other Republicans during the budget battle that led to the shutdown of the federal government in 1995. And now at last was DeLay’s chance to make him pay.


It was the waiting that was killing them now. At 5:44 p.m. that Monday, DeLay’s policy director, Tony C. Rudy, out in California for the congressional recess, sent an E-mail to press secretary Michael P. Scanlon back in Washington to find out what was happening with Clinton at the grand jury.


“still no word?” he wrote in that casual internal E-mail style in which capitalization, precise spelling, and proper grammar were optional.


“Hes going to admit it,” Scanlon wrote back. “the big q is on what level— I still say we need to attack!”


Rudy agreed. “we need to force dems to distance themselves from theliar,” he replied. “He looked into americas eyes and lied.”


“God bless you Tony Rudy—Are we the only ones with political instincts—This whole thing about not kicking someone when they are down is BS—Not only do you kick him—you kick him until he passes out—then beat him over the head with a baseball bat—then roll him up in an old rug— and throw him off a cliff into the pound surf below!!!!!”





CHAPTER TWO
“You’re a damn, damn, damn fool”



Tom DeLay set about finding a baseball bat and an old rug the next day. After watching the president’s speech at his home in northern Virginia outside Washington, DeLay stopped by the Capitol briefly on the morning of Tuesday, August 18, before flying to California for a campaign swing. He had made no public comment the night before on the advice of his press secretary, Mike Scanlon, who had predicted that Clinton the masterful public performer would never hurt himself with a nationally televised speech and so it could be risky to go after him on the same evening. DeLay wasted little time reminding his young aide of that advice.


“He’ll never screw up, right, Scanlon?” DeLay said mockingly.


DeLay’s reaction to the speech was visceral. As he saw it, attacking Ken Starr was a disgusting move. The tone, the manner, the sense of arrogance, all suggested a man trying to get away with something. DeLay told aides that when he had served in the Texas legislature, if someone lied, he would be ostracized by his own party; in Washington, it seemed, you could lie with impunity and get away with it. DeLay resolved not to let Clinton get away with it. For months, he had held himself back, taking occasional potshots but thinking someone else would emerge to take the lead. By now, though, it seemed clear no one else would. Senate Majority Leader Trent Lott was too restrained, House Majority Leader Dick Armey too weak within his own caucus, House Judiciary Committee chairman Henry J. Hyde too judicious. Even the out-spoken Newt Gingrich, who had risen to political stardom by attacking the ethics of then-Speaker Jim Wright, appeared to waffle on how aggressively to press the case against Clinton, lurching back and forth without warning.


By the time his plane landed that afternoon, DeLay had figured out what he wanted to do. He called back to Washington and set up a conference call with his top aides. His staff, like most others, was scattered around the country, many on vacation, but DeLay ordered them to get back to Washington right away. From this day forward, he said, they were going to make it their mission to drive Clinton from office. Not just to impeach him, but to force him to resign. That had to be the goal, because DeLay knew that removal by Congress was improbable at best so long as Democrats controlled more than the thirty-four votes necessary to block the two-thirds majority required for conviction in the Senate.


“This is going to be the most important thing I do in my political career, and I want all of you to dedicate yourselves to it or leave,” he told his staff. “As of today, I want a war room. I want a communications strategy. I want a political strategy. I want you to work day and night.”


DeLay’s pronouncement was greeted with some trepidation within his inner circle. Some DeLay advisers, including Congressman Bill Paxon, a boyish New York Republican and onetime rising star, had been warning him to keep a low profile, lest he find himself the latest critic destroyed by Clinton. But others, including Scanlon and Tony Rudy, encouraged DeLay. If they were going to wage war, they wanted to do it with no holding back. By the end of the day, DeLay had thrown down the gauntlet in public, issuing a statement calling on Clinton to step down.


“For the good of the country, and to put this scandal behind us, the president should resign,” DeLay said. “It is bad enough that our president is guilty of having an extramarital sexual relationship with one of his young interns. But it is much more damaging that this president looked the American people in the eye and knowingly lied to us.”


DeLay convened a conference call of the House Republican leadership to inform them of his decision to go after Clinton. At the beginning of the call, Gingrich opposed the idea, but by the end, he had flipped and agreed it was the right thing to do, effectively giving DeLay the green light. The decision put the pugnacious fifty-one-year-old congressman from Sugar Land, Texas, on a collision course with the world’s most powerful man and guaranteed that the issue would not be brushed aside or finessed with a deal, at least not if he could help it. Born in Laredo, Texas, the son of an oil-drilling contractor who was none too gentle with him, DeLay grew accustomed to rough environments early in life. He became a pest exterminator in Houston, a career choice that became something of a caricature in his later political life—so much so that he chose not to list it on his official biography posted on his Web site, instead simply referring to himself as the onetime owner of “a small business.” After a stint in the Texas legislature, DeLay first won his seat in Congress in 1984 and quickly built a reputation for a fiercely conservative, bulldog style that earned him the nickname The Hammer. In 1994 he ran for majority whip, the number-three position in the House, in charge of lining up votes for the Speaker, beating out Gingrich’s candidate for the job. Three years later, DeLay met with conservatives plotting to overthrow Gingrich, but when the coup failed, he acknowledged his role and apologized, saving his job.


DeLay and his staff enjoyed promoting stories about his toughness, a little myth-building that helped increase his influence (he kept a bullwhip prominently on display in his office, near his copy of the Ten Commandments). But The Hammer had secured his place in the House Republican leadership by assiduously catering to all of its members, including moderates and liberals. He turned his office into a full-service constituent center for congressmen, from making sure they got pork-barrel projects to laying out barbecue chicken for them during late-evening sessions. DeLay understood better than most how to play the inside game.


While DeLay hit the television circuit to attack Clinton, his staff returned to Washington to set up the nucleus of an organization designed to oust the president. In a conference room in the Capitol, they created a series of teams, one devoted to communications, another to research, and a third to member services. As they brainstormed, they decided to become the clearinghouse of impeachment for the party, flooding House Republicans with information and providing a central booking agency for members who shared DeLay’s conviction and were willing to go public with calls for Clinton to resign. They would put together a list of E-mail addresses and phone numbers to blast-fax statements, while sending two hundred talk-radio shows names of members advocating resignation. A “message of the day” would be sent to every Republican member’s office to keep up the pressure. Sample press releases would be written for other congressmen to release in their own names. Their research staff would comb through archives on the Nixon impeachment to figure out how it worked—including everything they could find about young Hillary Rodham’s role as a junior lawyer on the staff of the House Judiciary Committee during Watergate, right down to the address of her apartment and details such as her Illinois driver’s license and Arkansas bar membership. With Democrats already complaining about the possible cost of an impeachment inquiry, DeLay’s aides decided to search for any travel vouchers or other receipts showing expenses by the future first lady during Watergate, although they would quickly find those still under seal.


For all this effort, they would come up with a name. They would call it The Campaign.


“We’ve got that walk to the helicopter,” Doug Sosnik noted. “How are we going to handle it?”


It was the Day After, Tuesday, August 18, and the Clinton White House was suffering a political hangover of the worst kind. Clinton’s demoralized political advisers gathered in the morning to plot the images of the day—a strangely comforting ritual. The main event was the first family’s departure for Martha’s Vineyard, a moment that would be thoroughly scrutinized for any hints about the condition of their marriage. To get to the resort island, the president and first lady would have to travel together by air force jet. To get to Andrews Air Force Base, they would have to travel together by marine helicopter. To get to the helicopter, they would have to stroll across the South Lawn.


Scores of cameras would be waiting for that walk. Usually, the president’s aides choreographed every detail of such an event—make sure to put your arm around her, wave to the crowd, play with the dog, whatever. Nothing was left to chance. But on this day none of the aides could bring himself to formulate a proposal, let alone bring it to the president or the first lady. It would be inhuman.


When the family emerged from the Diplomatic Entrance and headed for Marine One, the first lady glared straight ahead, her face worn and wounded, refusing to acknowledge her husband’s presence and not even bothering with her customary public pretense of nonchalance. The president, holding the blue leash for Buddy, his chocolate Labrador retriever, in his right hand, managed a wan smile for the crowd. It fell to their eighteen-year-old daughter, Chelsea, to provide the image of the day. Positioning herself between her parents, she reached out to grab her father’s left hand and her mother’s right hand. There was the best picture the White House aides could have wanted but did not for once try to stage—Chelsea as the human bridge, holding her parents together at perhaps the most cataclysmic moment of their twenty-three-year marriage.


When they reached the helicopter, the president reached out to hold the first lady’s right elbow as she climbed the stairs, only to have her brush past him unassisted. The president boarded behind her and they buckled in for the short flight to Andrews. No first family can vacation entirely alone, but the entourage of senior officials had been kept to a bare minimum—Doug Sosnik, Mike McCurry, and Capricia Marshall, the White House social secretary and close confidant of both Hillary and Chelsea. As the chopper blades beat the air and the green-and-white aircraft launched itself into the sky, the cabin was dominated by an awkward silence. McCurry tried a little light banter about Martha’s Vineyard to ease the tension, and Sosnik joined in the strained chitchat, talking about the sights and activities on the island.


Once they arrived at Andrews, the group boarded a twin-engine DC-9, a backup version of Air Force One used whenever the president flew someplace with a short runway that could not accommodate the regular fully loaded Boeing 747. The president settled in at a small table with Sosnik and McCurry, while Hillary and Chelsea sat behind them, talking quietly between themselves. As the plane soared northeast, the first lady drifted off to sleep while the president read The General, a military thriller by Patrick A. Davis, and worked on the New York Times crossword. Suddenly Clinton was laughing and showed McCurry the clue for 46 down: four letters meaning “meal for the humble.”


The answer: “crow.”


“Here’s one that’s appropriate for today,” Clinton joked.


The painful silence between the president and first lady convinced McCurry that they had yet to deal with the obvious threat to their marriage. While others, including even Sosnik, were still unaware of the impending military strikes on Afghanistan and Sudan, Hillary Clinton knew what was coming, and that had been one more thing inhibiting an extended, intimate discussion. Their relationship would have to wait until the immediate crisis passed. But for all her anger, Hillary did call her press secretary, Marsha Berry, before leaving the White House to authorize a statement intended to quiet a little of the clamor: “Clearly, this is not the best day in Mrs. Clinton’s life. This is a time that she relies on her strong religious faith. She’s committed to her marriage and loves her husband and daughter very much and believes in the president, and her love for him is compassionate and steadfast. She clearly is uncomfortable with her personal life being made so public but is looking forward to going on vacation with her family and having some family time together.” Nowhere did the first lady mention the seething rage she felt at her husband’s betrayal or her own public humiliation.


When the plane touched down on the island around 5:15 p.m., a throng of several hundred friends and supporters waited to cheer them up, including Vernon E. Jordan Jr., the Washington power lawyer who had gotten ensnared in the scandal by helping Lewinsky find a New York job and a lawyer to draft her false affidavit denying a sexual relationship with the president. Jordan gave each member of the first family a tight bear hug as soon as they reached the tarmac. Chelsea was delighted to find some of her college friends from Stanford University on the runway, realizing it meant she would not have to spend the entire vacation with her mother and father, and she jumped out in front of her parents to work the receiving line like an old pro.


The chill Clinton would feel over the next few days came not just from his wife but from much of the Democratic establishment. While polls showed the public approved of his speech, it had clearly bombed inside the Beltway, even with his own party. Some of the most senior and respected Democrats in Washington were privately livid. While the president was winging his way to Martha’s Vineyard, one Democratic congressman, Paul McHale, a former marine who had served in the Persian Gulf War and proudly displayed a military saber on his wall, termed Clinton’s affair “morally repugnant” and called on him to resign. No one at the White House was worried about a backbencher like McHale, but they were instantly petrified about what reaction he might set off. Doug Sosnik had told Clinton as far back as February that his fate was in the hands of congressional Democrats. Drawing on the lessons of Watergate, Sosnik stressed that Richard Nixon was forced out of office not by Democrats but by fellow Republicans when they concluded he was guilty and could not survive. Similarly, Sosnik told Clinton, “Republicans are never going to be able to remove you, but Democrats can.”


While the House would be the first stop for any impeachment drive, the White House team was more worried about the Senate, where the members were more independent-minded and more readily able to build momentum for resignation. Sosnik, John Podesta, and the others on Clinton’s political team had worked for the Senate Democrats, and they divided up the list to call each of the forty-five members to identify who would fight for the president, who was soft, and who could bolt. Their canvass showed that the president was in far more trouble than even the media suspected. At least a dozen Democratic senators appeared on the verge of abandoning the president, including Robert C. Byrd, Joe Lieberman, Bob Graham, Bob Kerrey, Daniel Patrick Moynihan, Richard Bryan, Dianne Feinstein, Ernest F. “Fritz” Hollings, and Russell D. Feingold. Feinstein had stood in the Roosevelt Room on that day in January when Clinton had denied having sex with “that woman,” and she felt personally betrayed. “My trust in his credibility has been badly shattered,” Feinstein said publicly the day Clinton left on vacation. Privately, she refused to take his phone calls. Even Tom Daschle, the even-tempered leader of the Senate Democrats, was deeply angry. When White House aides called his office to suggest that Clinton talk with Daschle, they were told that the minority leader was not in a frame of mind to take his call. It would be days before Daschle would finally agree to speak with him.


Clinton’s problems on Capitol Hill were exacerbated by his long history of rocky relations with congressional Democrats. Perhaps if they had been closer to him, they might have been more willing to rally to his defense. But Democrats in Congress did not trust their president much more than the Republicans did. From the start, they had learned the hard way to watch what Clinton did, not what he said. In the early days of his presidency, he had convinced House Democrats to take the political risk of voting for a highly controversial energy tax as part of his budget plan, then, when the issue moved over to the Senate, he reversed himself and abandoned the so-called BTU tax—and his House allies. As they saw it, he cost them their majority, as Republicans, led by Newt Gingrich, roared into the 1994 midterm elections, captured the Senate, and ended forty years of Democratic control of the House. They watched with exasperation as Clinton cut deals with Republicans over welfare reform, trade agreements, and the budget, often leaving Hill Democrats out of the picture. And then in the ultimate insult, Clinton on the advice of consultant Dick Morris cemented his reelection in 1996 through a “triangulation” strategy designed to set him apart from both Republicans and congressional Democrats.


Now Clinton could no longer afford to keep his distance from his party. He needed them to come to his rescue. But they were wondering whether they should keep their distance from him.


It was a question Mike McCurry had never thought he would have to ask the president’s personal physician, but there he was on the phone with Dr. E. Connie Mariano: Is the president taking any drugs to suppress his sexual appetite?


The answer came back no. McCurry realized how intrusive this sounded, but the press was asking and he had to be informed before answering. Over the years, the White House had found itself disclosing even the most minor of ailments or treatments because the president’s health was a matter of public policy; there could be no legitimate privacy argument anymore. How about any other medications? McCurry asked Mariano. Was anyone treating Clinton for stress or providing marriage therapy?


“We have not and I don’t believe any is indicated,” Mariano answered. The doctor explained that she treated her patient, not the man she read about in the newspaper. While the White House kept psychiatrists on its list of on-call medical professionals, Mariano said she felt Clinton had plenty of people to vent to and that loving relatives, supportive pastors, and friends were the best type of treatment.


Bill and Hillary Clinton, though, were essentially not talking in the Oyster Pond compound they had borrowed from a Boston developer. The president was left to take long walks on the beach alone with Buddy to contemplate his predicament. On Wednesday, August 19, their second day of “vacation,” he celebrated his fifty-second birthday with a small dinner of barbecued chicken and island corn at the Chilmark farm where Vernon Jordan was staying, but then after returning to the compound around 11:30 p.m., he picked up the secure phone installed especially for his use and stayed up until 3 A.M. consulting with aides and military advisers about the upcoming strike against two sites linked to Saudi terrorist Osama bin Laden. By the time Clinton hung up, the missiles were scheduled to slam into their targets in just twelve hours.


The next day, Thursday, August 20, McCurry was in the middle of another briefing where reporters were quizzing him about the state of the presidential marriage when he was handed a note saying Clinton was on his way over to the Martha’s Vineyard school that had been converted into a press center. Abruptly interrupting an answer about Lewinsky, who was reappearing at the grand jury that day to contradict Clinton’s testimony, McCurry disclosed that the president would arrive any moment to make an announcement about national security and would then return immediately to Washington—setting the room abuzz with speculation about the surprise Clinton had in store. Resignation? Divorce? McCurry had said “national security,” but few paid attention.


A few minutes later, at 1:55 p.m., Clinton whisked into the school gymnasium wearing a suit and a solemn expression. “Good afternoon. Today I ordered our armed forces to strike at terrorist-related facilities in Afghanistan and Sudan because of the threat they present to our national security.” Three minutes later, he marched back out to head for his plane and Washington, where he could oversee the operation. Clinton had no genuine national-security reason to leave the island, as the White House had set up all the communications equipment he would need to monitor activities and talk with foreign leaders. But Clinton decided it would look more presidential to be in the Oval Office at such a moment—and if it provided a brief escape from his domestic turmoil, so be it.


Just like that, Clinton had changed the subject. He was the commander in chief again, leading the nation against embassy-bombing Middle Eastern terrorists, not the weak-willed husband who was putting the country through a national soap opera because of his personal failings. Administration officials argued they had no choice about when to act because the leaders of bin Laden’s organization were gathering that day at the camp in Afghanistan hit by missiles, a rare opportunity to strike at the core of a major terrorist organization. Newt Gingrich, Dick Armey, and Trent Lott rallied behind the president and praised his decision as justified. Yet the timing was so convenient that it drew immediate comparisons to Wag the Dog, a Robert De Niro—Dustin Hoffman movie about a president who waged a fake war to distract attention from a sex scandal. “There’s an obvious issue that will be raised internationally as to whether there is any diversionary motivation,” opined Senator Arlen Specter, a Republican from Pennsylvania. If there was any diversionary motivation, though, it did not work. The president returned to Martha’s Vineyard the next day to face the rest of his two-week sentence in purgatory with his wronged wife.


Dick Gephardt had mostly kept quiet in public about the president’s admission for more than a week, but now he had no choice. Having returned from Europe, he was scheduled to embark on a three-day campaign swing for fellow Democrats running for the House, and a handful of national political reporters had already been invited to join him long before Clinton’s grand jury appearance. Gephardt could not cancel and could not avoid being asked about the hottest political issue in the country.


Gephardt had never been close to Clinton. The son of a milk-truck driver, the fifty-seven-year-old congressman had grown up on the south side of St. Louis and started his political career as a new-breed leader who had broken with old Democratic orthodoxies. After a stint as a city alderman, he won election to Congress in 1976 as an ardent opponent of abortion and a skeptic about the value of new government programs. In 1981, he voted for Ronald Reagan’s tax cuts. As he prepared to mount his own bid for president in 1988 in a field that included then-senator Al Gore, though, Gephardt’s political center shifted to the left, and he embraced abortion rights and waged a populist crusade on foreign trade. After winning the Iowa caucuses, Gephardt stumbled in New Hampshire and collapsed on Super Tuesday, but when he returned to the Capitol, impressed colleagues rewarded him with the job of House majority leader.


When Clinton arrived in Washington four years later, the new president from Arkansas never bothered to woo the second-highest-ranking Democrat in the House. Gephardt refused to support Clinton’s drive to pass the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) early in his presidency, setting the course for a relationship that would remain distant at best. With Gephardt now thinking of running for president in 2000 against Clinton’s loyal lieutenant Vice President Gore, tensions with the White House had only increased. Indeed, the month before the Lewinsky story broke, Gephardt had tested out a campaign speech that implicitly criticized the small-bore politics of the Clinton-Gore team by calling for a party “where principles trump tactics” and that created “a movement for change and not a money machine.” Infuriated White House aides retaliated by boycotting a meeting with Gephardt and openly attacking him in the press for “his flip-flops on multiple issues.”


So by the time Lewinsky arrived on the scene, there was no reservoir of good will between the two men. Although now a leader of liberals, Gephardt was still something of a conservative “with a small c,” as one ally put it, when it came to personal behavior and was genuinely offended by Clinton’s conduct. Added to that, Gephardt had been working tirelessly to close the gap with the Republicans in the midterm 1998 elections, now just ten weeks away, only to find his labors undermined by a president who could not keep his pants on.


The day before embarking on the campaign swing, Gephardt spent hours on telephone conference calls, listening to other Democratic congressmen vent their frustration at the president and urging them not to react too precipitously. His members were unsatisfied by the president’s public apologies and were petrified about what next sensational disclosure might be around the corner once Starr delivered a report to Congress. “Members should feel free to disavow the president and his actions,” Gephardt told some of the nervous Democratic congressmen. Huddling with his strategists, Gephardt then tried to figure out what to say when he was asked about Clinton’s conduct. In the end, they decided, Gephardt’s top priority had to be keeping his own people together, particularly moderates and conservatives within the caucus. That meant he had to maintain a strategic distance from the White House to keep his credibility.


Still, the next day he went a little further than even his own advisers thought he should. During a stop in Scranton, Pennsylvania, on Tuesday, August 25, Gephardt used the “I-word,” seemingly opening the door to the possibility of impeachment. “If Congress decides to go forward with an impeachment process, we will be involved in perhaps the most important task the Congress will ever have. We have to, under the Constitution, carefully examine the facts and then make a judgment on whether or not he should be expelled from office.” On one level, that was simply common sense; but the signal Gephardt unintentionally sent was that he thought impeachment might be warranted. While it should not be done lightly, he said, “that doesn’t mean it can’t be done or shouldn’t be done; you just better be sure you do it the right way.”


Clinton erupted in anger that night when he read in an early version of a story in the Washington Post about what Gephardt had said. The headline went further than Gephardt’s actual words and fueled the fire: “Gephardt Says Clinton Could Be Impeached.” Clinton picked up the phone and tracked down his friend and chief fund-raiser, Terence R. McAuliffe, who was also close to Gephardt.


“You see what your friend Gephardt did?” Clinton yelled into the phone.


McAuliffe did not know the details but tried to calm Clinton down. “Mr. President, it’s not true. I haven’t talked to him for a couple days, but I guarantee it. There’s no way he said that.”


McAuliffe called Gephardt the next day and communicated the president’s unhappiness. Gephardt, who had been in McAuliffe’s wedding, said there had been a misunderstanding but warned that he could not be seen as the president’s defender. “Look, we have a role that we have to play here. We don’t know what the facts are. We can’t be anything but objective.”


McAuliffe called Clinton back and relayed the message. But the president had been fuming for hours and had also registered complaints about Gephardt with Jesse Jackson; John Sweeney, the president of the AFL-CIO; and Gerald McEntee, head of the American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees. All three tracked down Gephardt’s chief of staff, Steve Elmendorf, at a labor conference in Hawaii to pass along the president’s gripes. Like his boss, Elmendorf conceded that perhaps the comments were not as artful as they could have been, but stressed “we have to hold the moderates.” Sweeney and McEntee also called House Minority Whip David E. Bonior of Michigan, who shared their concern. Bonior, who had often clashed with Clinton, nonetheless had made the cold calculation that dumping him would be worse for Democrats than keeping him around. But he was having trouble impressing that on the more wary Gephardt.


The White House did not have a full appreciation for the level of antipathy on the Hill. Earlier that summer, Gephardt had met with small groups of fifteen or twenty members of his caucus to talk over the president’s predicament, always taking care to pick a cross-section for each session so that the conservatives known as Blue Dogs could hear how the more liberal members felt and vice versa. The anger that poured out at these meetings was palpable. Gephardt was struck by how negative many of the members were toward the president, and he found it particularly ironic that the harshest were the New Democrats, with whom Clinton had so consciously allied himself, sometimes at the expense of Gephardt and other party leaders. Even before the president’s August 17 admission, some of the party’s senior congressmen, including Martin Frost of Texas and David Obey of Wisconsin, had told Gephardt or his staff that the minority leader should consider going to Clinton to demand his resignation.


With an impeachment referral from Starr now all but certain, Gephardt had his staff work up lists of members they should worry about, and the results that came back were overwhelming. After poring through whip books, Elmendorf and Gephardt’s floor director, George Kundanis, identified 100 of the 206 Democrats as possible votes for impeachment. The staff came up with a second watch list of eighteen House Democrats who deeply disliked Clinton—from liberals such as Neil Abercrombie of Hawaii and George Miller and Fortney H. “Pete” Stark of California, to conservatives such as Ralph M. Hall of Texas, Gene Taylor of Mississippi, and Pat Danner of Missouri. Others they put on that second list were Scotty Baesler of Kentucky, Peter DeFazio of Oregon, Diana DeGette of Colorado, Bob Etheridge of North Carolina, Bob Filner of California, Marcy Kaptur of Ohio, Matthew G. Martinez of California, Carolyn McCarthy of New York, Lynn Rivers of Michigan, David E. Skaggs of Colorado, Louise M. Slaughter of New York, and James A. Traficant Jr. of Ohio. These Democrats were not necessarily pro-impeachment votes, but given their personal distaste for Clinton, it was critical to monitor them.


What these meetings and lists demonstrated was that as he faced the most perilous threat of his political career, Clinton had no safety net beneath him.


* * *


 “Bill, you’re a fool! You’re a damn, damn, damn fool!”


Clinton was being taken to task by a senator fed up with his sense of victimization. It was a breach of protocol even for a senior member of Congress to call the president by his first name, let alone to curse him, but the Democrats on Capitol Hill were beyond aggravation. And not just those Democrats who did not get along with him—in this case, Senator Patrick J. Leahy was on the phone, a liberal Vermont Democrat and Clinton supporter who shared his outrage at Starr’s conduct. Even Leahy’s wife could not believe how blunt he was being. “That’s the president!” she whispered in horror.


At the urging of his staff, from Martha’s Vineyard Clinton had begun making phone calls to key congressional Democrats. The idea had been for him to do in private what they complained he had not done in public— apologize for his actions. But after telling them he was sorry for putting them in such a bad situation, Clinton would invariably launch into a tirade about how unfairly he had been treated. As they hung up the phone, several of the lawmakers were more convinced than ever that Clinton was not truly sorry. He was still too busy nursing his resentment. After listening to one such presidential rant, Senator Joe Lieberman took out a laptop computer at his summer beach house and began tapping out his feelings of disappointment, emotions that were only exacerbated when his ten-year-old daughter told him she was worried she would be laughed at when she returned to school because she had insisted to her classmates the president had told the truth.


Leahy took out his frustration directly on the president. The longtime senator had been watching a movie after dinner while celebrating his wedding anniversary at the family farm in Vermont when Clinton called on Tuesday, August 25. Clinton was defensive and went on at some length about Starr’s vendetta.


“Look,” Leahy interrupted. “I really don’t need to be told that. I’m a former prosecutor myself. I know this is excess. No elected prosecutor, Democrat or Republican, would ever do this.” Leahy continued: “But don’t even look for sympathy on this. You’re going to have to be damn sure your testimony has been honest before the grand jury. People will be very critical of Starr, but they aren’t going to excuse your conduct one iota just because of Starr’s misuse of the office.”


Clinton’s tone changed somewhat, and he admitted he had done wrong.


Leahy asked if he had spoken with many other senators.


Not many, not yet, the president responded. He was not really anxious to talk with them at that point.


“Well, you should,” Leahy said, and then softened himself. “You realize that even people like myself who are very, very angry at what you did are still your friends.”


Friends, though, were in short supply for the president, angry or not— particularly in Martha’s Vineyard. By the middle of his second week of “vacation,” Clinton was growing stir-crazy and decided to get out for a while. His staff looked around for a short day trip he could make and settled on Worcester, Massachusetts, a short hop away, where he could announce a scholarship program for would-be police officers and a new teacher’s guide for detecting troubled youth. No mention would be made of Lewinsky, no new apologies issued. This would be the first test of Clinton in a crowd following his admission, albeit a hand-selected crowd in a friendly region of the country.
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